FILED

JANUARY 5, 2015

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

Cause No. 327027-III

COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON (Div. III)

CRAIG S. CULBERTSON
Appellant,

v.

WELLS FARGO INSURANCE SERVICES USA, INC.; JOSHUA TYNDELL and JANE DOE; and RHONDA IDE and JOHN DOE;

Respondents.

Superior Court No. 14-2-01009-0 Spokane County Honorable Judge Price

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

PATRICK J. KIRBY, WSBA #24097 Patrick J. Kirby Law Office, PLLC 421 W. Riverside Avenue, Suite 802 Spokane, Washington 99201 (509) 835-1200 pkirby@pkirbylaw.com Attorney for Appellant

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal challenges the trial court's rulings: (1) that as a matter of law that Respondent Wells Fargo Insurance Services USA, Inc. ("Wells Fargo") Employee Handbook does not contain promises of specific treatment in specific circumstances; (2) that judicial estoppel did not prevent Wells Fargo from asserting that Culbertson's compensation agreement could be unilaterally modified; (3) Wells Fargo does not owe Culbertson post-termination commissions because Wells Fargo unilaterally modified his compensation agreement; (4) denying Culbertson's CR 56(f) Motion to allow time for inspection of Culbertson's work computer at Wells Fargo to determine if Culbertson received reasonable notice of Wells Fargo's unilateral changes to his compensation agreement.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Culbertson raises the following assignments of error.

- The trial court erred when it ruled as a matter of law that the Wells
   Fargo Employee Handbook does not contain promises of specific treatment in specific circumstances.
- The trial court erred when it failed to apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel to prevent Wells Fargo from asserting that Culbertson's compensation agreement could be unilaterally modified.

- The trial court erred as a matter of law by failing to apply the procuring cause doctrine to Culbertson's claim for posttermination commissions owed under his bilateral compensation agreement with Wells Fargo.
- 4. The trial court abused its discretion by denying Culbertson's CR 56(f) Motion to allow inspection of his work computer at Wells Fargo before granting summary judgment to Wells Fargo because a genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether Wells Fargo provided Culbertson with "reasonable notice" of its unilateral changes to his compensation plan.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE & PROCEEDINGS

#### A. Trial Court Proceedings

On March 21, 2014, Culbertson filed a complaint against his former employer Wells Fargo alleging, among other things, wrongful discharge in violation of promises of specific treatment in specific circumstances contained in the Wells Fargo Employee Handbook (first cause of action). CP 7-12. Culbertson's complaint alleged wrongful/intentional withholding of his wages by Wells Fargo and its Spokane Branch Manager Josh Tyndell ("Tyndell") in violation of RCW 49.48.010, 49.52.050, and 49.52.070 (second cause of action). CP 7-14. Culbertson's complaint also alleged Wells Fargo breached its compensation agreement with Culbertson

by refusing to pay post-termination commissions (third cause of action). CP 7-15. Culbertson's complaint included additional causes of action against Well Fargo related to Wells Fargo's failure to pay him posttermination commissions: breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing (fourth); promissory estoppel/detrimental reliance (fifth); quantum meruit/unjust enrichment (sixth); conversion (seventh); fraud/intentional misrepresentation (eighth); negligent misrepresentation (ninth); violation of the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86 et seq. (tenth), CP 15-19. Culbertson's complaint also included the following tort causes of action claims against Wells Fargo, Tyndell, and Rhonda Ide, which were later voluntarily dismissed: tortious interference with business expectancies (eleventh); defamation (twelfth); invasion of privacy-false light (thirteenth); invasion of privacy-appropriation of name and likeness (fourteenth); negligent infliction of emotional distress (fifteenth); outrage (sixteenth). CP 19-23; 423-426.

On May 23, 2014, Culbertson filed a motion for partial summary judgment for an order of liability against Wells Fargo on Culbertson's breach of contract claim for failure to pay him post-termination commission as alleged in the third cause of action in his complaint. CP 43-45.

On May 23, 2014, Wells Fargo filed a motion for partial summary judgment for an order of dismissal of the following causes of action in Culbertson's complaint: wrongful discharge in violation of promises of specific treatment in specific circumstances contained in the Wells Fargo Employee Handbook (first); wrongful/intentional withholding of wages in violation of RCW 49.48.010, 49.52.050, and 49.52.070 (second); breach of contract by refusing to pay post-termination commissions (third); breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing (fourth); promissory estoppel/detrimental reliance (fifth); quantum meruit/unjust enrichment (sixth); conversion (seventh); fraud/intentional misrepresentation (eighth); negligent misrepresentation (ninth); violation of the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86 *et seq.* (tenth). CP 469-471.

On July 16, 2014, the trial court entered an order granting Wells Fargo's motion of partial summary judgment and denying Culbertson's motion for partial summary judgment. CP 218-226. In its order, the trial court held that Wells Fargo's Handbook does not provide a promise of specific treatment in specific circumstances. CP 223. The trial court further held that Wells Fargo unilaterally modified the terms of Mr. Culbertson's employment compensation by and through the 2013 Sales Incentive Plan, by providing Culbertson with reasonable notice of that Plan. CP 223.

On July 28, 2014, Culbertson filed a motion for reconsideration of the order entered by the trial court on July 16, 2014. CP 318-320.

On August 8, 2014, the trial court entered an order denying Culbertson's motion for reconsideration. CP 405-406.

On August 15, 2015, this timely appeal followed. CP 407-422.

#### B. Factual Background

#### Wrongful Discharge

On November 1, 2006, Culbertson accepted an offer of employment as an "Employee Benefits-Producer" from Acordia Northwest, Inc. ("Acordia," now publicly known as Wells Fargo Insurance Services USA, Inc.) at its Spokane Branch Office to serve as an employee benefits consultant/insurance broker. CP 9, 28, 47.

At some point following Culbertson's initial date of employment,

Acordia merged and/or was assumed with/into Wells Fargo and all of the
employees of Acordia, including Culbertson, became employees of Wells

Fargo. CP 9, 28, 48.

When Acordia/Wells Fargo hired Culbertson on November 1, 2006, Culbertson signed a form acknowledging that he had received the *Handbook for Wells Fargo Team Members* (2006 Handbook) and understood its application to his employment at Wells Fargo. CP 140, 564.

During the course of his employment at Wells Fargo from November 1, 2006, until Wells Fargo fired him on February 3, 2014, Culbertson did not sign any other acknowledgment forms stating that he received, read, and understood any other handbooks published by Wells Fargo for its employees. CP 140.

On the morning of February 3, 2014, Wells Fargo's Spokane Branch Manager Tyndell summoned Culbertson into an unscheduled meeting at the Wells Fargo Spokane Branch Office conference room with a security guard posted outside to meet with a Wells Fargo investigator and Tyndell. CP 10, 16, 142.

Wells Fargo's investigator immediately accused Culbertson of falsifying records and began to question Culbertson about client expense reports he prepared in August and October 2013. CP 142.

Wells Fargo's investigator and Tyndell did not show Culbertson any documents during their meeting, much less any documents which they accused Culbertson of falsifying. CP 142.

The Wells Fargo investigator and Tyndell did not allow Culbertson to take any notes or ask questions of them during their meeting. CP 142.

During their meeting, Culbertson requested an opportunity to seek counsel, and the Wells Fargo investigator responded that Culbertson could not have any one present while being questioned. CP 142.

The Wells Fargo investigator and Tyndell did not remind Culbertson of the provisions in the Wells Fargo Handbook, which make Human Resources ("HR") Department "consultants" or "advisors" available to an employee during the dispute resolution and problem-solving process. CP 142.

The Wells Fargo investigator and Tyndell did not provide to Culbertson the opportunity to seek counsel with any "consultant" or "advisor" from Wells Fargo's HR Department when he asked for an opportunity to seek counsel. CP 143.

The Wells Fargo investigator told Culbertson to make a written statement regarding his travel expenses incurred in August and October 2013. CP 143. When Culbertson asked for an opportunity to review his travel records and calendar in his office, the Wells Fargo investigator denied his request and told Culberson to finish his written statement while the investigator and Tyndell stepped out of the conference room. CP 143.

A few minutes later, the investigator and Tyndell returned to the conference and told Culbertson the meeting was finished and that Culbertson's employment at Wells Fargo was terminated, effective immediately. CP 143. Tyndell handed Culbertson a pre-printed termination letter and told Culbertson that he was "no longer bondable." CP 143.

The pre-printed termination letter was dated February 3, 2014, signed by Tyndell and enclosed in it was a copy of a document "Acordia Northwest, Inc. Agreement Regarding Trade Secrets, Confidential Information and Non-Solicitation," which Culbertson had signed when he was hired on November 1, 2006 ("2006 TSA"). CP 143, 149-154.

Nothing in the termination letter advised Culbertson of the portions in the Wells Fargo Team Member Handbook regarding internal problem solving resources available to Culbertson, or of the dispute resolution process, or that Culbertson may request to have the decision to terminate him reviewed "from an objective standpoint" by an Employee Relations consultant. CP 143, 149-154.

The Wells Fargo investigator and Tyndell did not give Culbertson any opportunity to effectively communicate with another manager in the Wells Fargo chain of reporting relationships regarding the allegations against him before they fired him. CP 144.

After Tyndell handed Culbertson the pre-printed termination letter, the Wells Fargo investigator provided Culbertson with the name, email address, and phone number of an employee in the Wells Fargo Human Resources ("HR") Department for Culbertson to contact if he had any questions "regarding his final paycheck." CP 144.

After Tyndell handed Culbertson the Termination Letter, Tyndell escorted Culbertson out of the Wells Fargo Spokane Branch Office and allowed Culbertson to retrieve only his coat, briefcase, and photos of Culbertson's children from his office. CP 144.

Tyndell did not allow Culbertson to review or retrieve any documents in Culbertson's office—including the Wells Fargo Handbook—as Tyndell escorted Culbertson out of the Wells Fargo Spokane Branch Office under the watchful eye of a security guard. CP 144.

Later on February 3, 2014, Culbertson sent a letter, via email, to the Wells Fargo HR Department representative identified by the Wells Fargo investigator during their meeting earlier that day, requesting a written statement as to the reasons for his discharge. CP 144, 156.

No representative from Wells Fargo's HR Department or other manager in the Wells Fargo reporting chain contacted Culbertson in response to his February 3, 2014, letter. CP 144-145. Instead, Culbertson's former supervisor who fired him mailed a letter to Culbertson dated February 14, 2014, repeating the same unspecified and unsubstantiated allegations made by the Wells Fargo investigator that Culbertson had falsified of records. CP 144-45, 158-59.

On February 27, 2014, Culbertson emailed a letter to Wells Fargo's HR Department requesting a review of the decision to terminate his

employment, and Culbertson sent a courtesy copy of the letter to Tyndell. CP 145, 161-62.

No one from Wells Fargo contacted Culbertson in response to his February 27, 2014, letter requesting a review of the decision to terminate his employment at Wells Fargo. CP 145.

Wells Fargo's 2006 Handbook Chapter 3 "Workplace Conduct" makes promises as follows:

At Wells Fargo, <u>we're committed to</u> maintaining an environment that promotes professionalism and encourages each team member's professional development and achievement. Consistency, <u>fairness</u>, respect and confidentiality are essential to good relations between team members, their supervisors and Wells Fargo....

CP 608 (emphasis added).

Wells Fargo's 2006 Handbook Chapter 4 "Performance & Problem Solving" contains a Section 4.5 "Dispute Resolution" process which includes sections titled "Overview of the Dispute Resolution Process," "Wells Fargo Resources" "Termination Decision Review." CP 634-636.

Wells Fargo's 2006 Handbook Section 4.5 "Dispute Resolution" makes the following "guarantees" regarding its dispute resolution process:

At Wells Fargo we feel <u>it's essential to provide</u> team members with a <u>prompt</u>, <u>fair review of any work-related problem</u>. So, we've developed a <u>process</u> through which <u>each team member has an opportunity to use internal problem-solving resources</u>.

Although we can't <u>guarantee</u> that every team member will always be satisfied with the outcome, <u>we can make sure that all team members have dispute resolution methods available when they're needed</u>. In addition, we prohibit retaliation against any team member for using <u>the dispute resolution process...</u>

If you need alternatives or to escalate your dispute further, <u>you can</u> <u>follow the process outlined below. It's strongly recommended you use these resources</u> in the order they're shown here—it's logical that those closest to your situation will be able to understand it best, so you'll want to go those resources first.

The process stops at any point you decide to discontinue it, or when you've exhausted all the resources described here.

CP 634-635 (emphasis added).

Wells Fargo's 2006 Handbook Section 4.5 "Dispute Resolution" uses promissory language setting forth the dispute resolution process and the "Wells Fargo Resources" available to every team member which includes the opportunity to meet with "Your Supervisor," "Your Supervisor's Manager," "Your HR consultant," and "Your Employees Relations consultant."

Your Supervisor....If you prefer, you can also contact your HR consultant and ask him or her to facilitate a meeting with your supervisor, or to help you prepare for the meeting.

Your Supervisor's Manager...you can meet with your supervisor's manager (or another manager above your supervisor in the chain of reporting relationships) to discuss the issue. Again, if you prefer, you can also contact your HR consultant and ask him or her to facilitate the meeting with your supervisor's manager, or to help you prepare for the meeting.

Your HR Consultant—After you've spoken with your supervisor's manager, if you feel you haven't been able to communicate effectively with him or her—or if you want someone else to review the situation or facilitate a meeting with either of them—you can contact your HR consultant.

Your Employee Relations Consultant—After you've spoken with your HR consultant, if you still want your dispute reviewed further you can contact your Employee Relations consultant. Employee Relations consultants review disputes from an objective position and act in a consultative role to help resolve work-related issues. Your Employee Relations consultant will work with your HR Consultant to obtain related information in order to review the matter and make recommendations to you and your group's management, if appropriate. You may be asked to provide written information to help this process.

CP 635 (emphasis added).

Wells Fargo's 2006 Handbook Section 4.5 "<u>Dispute Resolution</u>" uses promissory language setting forth the end of the dispute resolution process titled "Termination Decision Review."

If your employment is terminated involuntarily (see "Involuntary Termination" on page 97) and you want to have that decision reviewed, contact your HR consultant as soon as possible following the termination. Once your HR consultant has reviewed the matter, if necessary it can be referred to Employee Relations. They'll determine whether a further review is warranted based on the circumstances—and if so, they'll conduct one.

CP 636.

Wells Fargo's 2006 Handbook Chapter 9 "<u>Leaving Wells Fargo</u>" repeats the promissory language for "Review of Termination" in the dispute resolution process.

If your employment is terminated involuntarily and you want to have that decision reviewed, <u>contact your HR consultant</u> as soon as possible following the termination. Once your HR consultant has reviewed the matter, if necessary it can be escalated to Employee Relations. They'll determine whether a further review is warranted based on the circumstances—and if so, they'll conduct one. (See "<u>Dispute Resolution</u>" on page 44.)

CP 688 (emphasis added).

The Wells Fargo 2006 Handbook contained Chapter 4 titled "Performance & Problem-Solving," which included a Section 4.6 titled "Third Party Representation," states, *inter alia*:

It is the intent of all Wells Fargo policies to provide a productive and fair work environment. We respect your right to communicate directly, on an individual basis, with your supervisor, manager or HR consultant about any of the terms or conditions of your employment. Within our work environment, we believe that those who are also Wells Fargo team members can be more responsive to your needs and concerns than anyone outside of the company such as an attorney, labor organization, association or group.

For that reason <u>we conduct team member communications and problem-solving</u>, as well as performance counseling, correction and internal investigations, without participation by an individual or a "representative" who is not a Wells Fargo team member. Confidential information relating to employment should be discussed only between the team member and his or her supervisor, or another authorized Wells Fargo team member....

If you encounter any problems on the job, <u>bring your concerns to your</u> supervisor, <u>manager</u> or <u>HR consultant</u>. <u>They're willing to discuss any work-related problem with you</u> on a direct, person-to-person basis.

CP 636 (emphasis added).

Culbertson was aware of the promises in the Wells Fargo 2006 Handbook, and those statements induced him to remain on the job at Wells Fargo and not seek other employment. CP 140-41.

#### **Post-Termination Commissions**

On November 1, 2006, Culbertson signed an acceptance job offer letter from Acordia/Wells Fargo setting forth the terms of compensation in which Wells Fargo promised to pay Culbertson a draw "trued up" quarterly, based upon commission rates of thirty-five percent (35%) of the annual broker fees collected on new business and twenty-five percent (25%) of annual broker fees collected on renewed "billed" business. CP 47, 56-57, 429, 561-562.

The job offer letter, signed by Culbertson on November 1, 2006, was drafted entirely by Acordia without any input from Culbertson. CP 47, 56-57, 429, 561-562. Nothing in the job offer letter to Culbertson states that Culbertson will not be paid commissions on his sales after his employment at Wells Fargo terminates. CP 47, 56-57, 429, 561-562.

Upon his hire by Acordia/Wells Fargo, Culbertson signed a 2006 TSA, which included, *inter alia*, a provision prohibiting Culbertson from soliciting business from his former Wells Fargo customers for two (2) years after the termination of his employment. CP 47-48, 59-62, 575-578.

Nothing in the 2006 TSA restricted Culbertson from accepting business from former Wells Fargo clients after his employment ended so long as Culbertson did not solicit their business during the two (2) years after his employment at Wells Fargo terminated. CP 47-48, 59-62, 575-578.

On or about December 22, 2009, the Wells Fargo Spokane Branch Manager, Mark Neupert, presented Culbertson with a single-page document titled "WFIS Producer Plan Appendix A Participant Draw and Commission Rates" ("2010 Producer Plan"), and told Culbertson, "Here's your new comp plan." CP 9, 28, 48, 49, 64, 429, 565.

No other documents were attached to, enclosed with, or accompanied the 2010 Producer Plan when the Wells Fargo Spokane Branch Manager presented the 2010 Producer Plan to Culbertson for signature. CP 48, 64, 429, 565.

No Wells Fargo representative explained to Culbertson what was meant by the "the plan" referenced in the single-page 2010 Producer Plan handed to Culbertson by the Spokane Branch Manager before he signed it on December 22, 2009. CP 48-49, 64, 429, 565.

Culbertson understood his entire compensation "plan" to be the singlepage document handed to him by the Wells Fargo Spokane Branch Manager, and no other documents. CP 49, 64, 429, 565. No representatives of Wells Fargo provided Culbertson with any other documents to review before signing the single-page Producer Plan on December 22, 2009, or at any time. CP 48-49, 64, 429, 565.

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