WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

CRAIG S. CULBERTSON, a married man,

Appellant,

VS.

WELLS FARGO INSURANCE SERVICES USA, INC., North Carolina corporation; JOSHUA TYNDELL and JANE DOE, and the marital community comprised thereof; RHONDA IDE and JOHN DOE; and the marital community comprised thereof,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

SCOTT A GINGRAS
WSBA No. 43886
WINSTON & CASHATT, LAWYERS, a
Professional Service Corporation
601 W. Riverside, Ste. 1900
Spokane, Washington 99201
Telephone: (509) 838-6131

Attorneys for Respondents

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

III. ARGUMENT

When reviewing an order of summary judgment, the Court of Appeals engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). As a result, summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, affidavits, depositions and admissions on file demonstrate the absence of any genuine issues of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). The Court of Appeals may affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment if it is supported by any grounds in the record. Woody v. Stapp, 146 Wn.App. 16, 21, 189 P.3d 807, 809-10 (2008).

A. Judge Price's summary judgment dismissal of Culbertson's wrongful discharge claim should be affirmed because the Wells Fargo Team Member Handbook does not amount to promises of specific treatment in specific circumstances.

Washington has long adhered to the "terminable-at-will" doctrine as governing the relationship between an employer and employee. McClintick v. Timber Products Manufacturers, Inc., 105 Wn.App. 914, 920, 21 P.3d 328, 331 (2001). A "terminable-at-will" employment relationship constitutes employment of indefinite duration which may be terminated by either the employer or the employee at any time, "with or without cause." See e.g., Briggs v. Nova Servs., 166 Wn.2d 794, 801, 213 P.3d 910, 914 (2009). It is undisputed that Culbertson's employment

with Wells Fargo was at all times "at-will," and Wells Fargo had the legal right to terminate Culbertson's employment at any time, with or without cause, with or without advance notice.

Nonetheless, under Washington state law, at-will employment can be altered in the limited circumstance when an employer creates an atmosphere of job security and fair treatment by promises of specific treatment in specific situations in their employment handbook, and the employee relies thereon. The "promises of specific treatment in specific situations" claim is based on an equitable theory of justifiable reliance. Quedado v. Boeing Co., 168 Wn.App. 363, 368, 276 P.3d 365 (2012), citing Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co., 102 Wn.2d 219, 230, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984).

Thus, to establish a basis to assert a claim for wrongful discharge under this equitable theory, Culbertson had to establish that: (1) Wells Fargo created an atmosphere of job security and fair treatment with promises of specific treatment in specific situations through statements in its employment Handbook; (2) Culbertson justifiably relied on those promises, and (3) Wells Fargo breached the promises. Quedado, 168 Wn.App. at 368-369, 276 P.3d 365; see also, Thompson, 102 Wn.2d at 230, 685 P.2d 1081. If reasonable minds cannot differ in resolving these questions, it is proper for a trial court to decide them as a matter of law on

P.3d 1172 (2001). That is, "[i]n interpreting the language of employment policies, 'if reasonable minds cannot differ as to whether language sufficiently constitutes an offer or a promise of specific treatment in specific circumstances, as a matter of law the claimed promise cannot be part of the employment relationship." Bulman, 144 Wn.2d at 351, 27 P.3d at 1180. Here, the first element to Culbertson's wrongful discharge claim is dispositive. Reasonable minds cannot differ in finding that the Wells Fargo employment policy manual does not contain a promise of specific treatment in specific situations under the undisputed facts of this case.

Washington courts have found that there are three separate and distinct disjunctive circumstances whereby employers will not be bound by statements in employment handbooks: (1) disclaimers; (2) general company policies; or (3) employer discretion. All three are applicable in this case, and are addressed separately as follows.

1. Wells Fargo's Team Member Handbook provides multiple clear and conspicuous disclaimer statements of Culbertson's at-will employment, and the lack of the creation of an employment contract.

⁷ Culbertson argues extensively, both factually and legally, for reversal of the grant of summary judgment based on the second and third elements of the prima facie case of his wrongful discharge claim - justifiable reliance and breach of the Handbook terms. However, Wells Fargo did not move, and Judge Price did not grant summary judgment, on either of those two prima facie elements. Therefore, Wells Fargo will not address those irrelevant factual and legal arguments.

Employers in Washington can disclaim that nothing contained in their handbook is intended to be part of the employment relationship and are simply general statements of company policy. Thompson, 102 Wn.2d at 230, 685 P.2d 1081; 25 Wash. Prac., Contract Law And Practice § 17:5 (2d ed.). It is generally recognized that so long as a disclaimer is conspicuous, effectively communicated to the employee, and it is not negated by later inconsistent representations by the employer, an employer in Washington can disclaim what might otherwise appear to be enforceable promises in handbooks or manual or similar documents. Quedado, 168 Wn.App. at 374, 276 P.3d 365, citing Swanson v. Liquid Air Corp., 118 Wn.2d 512, 519, 826 P.2d 664 (1992).

Whether disclaimers are effective in an employment handbook (to defeat a claim of specific promises) can be a matter of law to be determined on summary judgment if they are: (1) "communicated" to the employee(s); and (2) the communication must be "effective." Quedado, 168 Wn.App. at 374, citing Swanson, 118 Wn.2d at 519.

Here, the Wells Fargo Team Member Handbook contains multiple express conspicuous disclaimers that the Handbook does not create a contract or grant employee rights, but instead is simply an outline of general policies for at-will employment. The first is contained in the second paragraph on the very first page of the "Wells Fargo Team"

Member Handbook." It states plainly that the "handbook is not a contract of employment nor can it offer an answer for every situation. Employment at Wells Fargo is on an 'at-will' basis." (CP 737) The second is found on page 84, which defines the "Employment at Will" relationship policy of Wells Fargo. In that policy section of the Handbook it states: "handbook is not a contract of employment. Your employment with a Wells Fargo company has no specified term or length; both you and Wells Fargo have the right to terminate your employment at any time, with or without advance notice and with or without cause." (CP 823)

Moreover, in the sections that Culbertson claims create specific promises in the "Career, Performance & Problems Solving" chapter of the Handbook, Wells Fargo expressly refers its employees back to the "Employment at Will" policy of the Handbook, and states that they do not "alter or modify Wells' Fargo's 'employment at will policy'." (CP 879-882) The direct reference back to the employment at-will policy section is also found in the provision of the Handbook regarding "Immediate Termination" that Culbertson cites to support his claim. (CP 975)

In this case, there is no dispute as to the material fact that the disclaimers were "communicated" to Culbertson because they were contained in documents that he signed, as well as contained in the very Handbook that he now attempts to use to supports his wrongful discharge

claim. Therefore, the only issue raised by Culbertson on the disclaimers in his Appellant's brief is whether the disclaimers were "effectively" communicated to Culbertson. That is, whether they were conspicuous.

Contrary to Culbertson's claim that the disclaimers were not conspicuous, there is no requirement of Washington law that a disclaimer be bolded, underlined, and/or italicized for it to be "effectively communicated" to an employee. This is highlighted by the fact that Culbertson cites to no Washington case law to support his flawed argument. In truth, for the communication to be "effective," the analysis is simply whether there has been "reasonable notice" to the employee that the employer is disclaiming intent to be bound by what otherwise appears to be promises of employment conditions. 25 Wash. Prac., Contract Law And Practice § 17:5 (2d ed.); Swanson, 118 Wn.2d at 531, 826 P.2d 664.

Culbertson contends that the disclaimers are not conspicuous because they are contained in a Handbook (on which he bases his claim) that is voluminous in length. However, effective communication of reasonable notice of the disclaimers is found when the disclaimer is in the very documents upon which the plaintiff's claims rely. See e.g. Nelson v. Southland Corp., 78 Wn.App. 25, 30, 894 P.2d 1385 (1995) (holding "the policies and procedures Mrs. Nelson relies upon each contained separate disclaimers ... [m]oreover, Mrs. Nelson admitted she received copies of

these procedures in a management seminar ... [i]n these circumstances, reasonable minds cannot differ ... [t]he trial court properly determined as a matter of law the disclaimers were communicated to Mrs. Nelson.")

Furthermore, Culbertson cites to <u>Swanson v. Liquid Air Corp.</u>, 118 Wn.2d 512, 826 P.2d 664 (1992), for support that Wells Fargo's disclaimers were not effective and/or properly communicated to Culbertson; yet, Culbertson fails to discuss the facts of the disclaimers in <u>Swanson</u> in his Appellant's Brief, likely because he knows that they are drastically distinguishable from the undisputed facts of this case.

Unlike here, <u>Swanson</u> involved an issue between two inconsistent written employment materials. The first was an existing employee manual which stated that the employees' employment was at-will, and which contained a disclaimer. The second was a later drafted separate "Memorandum of Working Conditions" that was created by and between the employees and the employer after two days of extensive labor discussions. The "Memorandum" stated that after a 90 day probationary period, "at least one warning shall be given" prior to an employee's termination. <u>Swanson</u>, 118 Wn.2d at 516, 826 P.2d 664. Moreover, unlike the employee manual, the Memorandum did not contain any disclaimer language, or provide the employer any discretion in the policy.

Ultimately, the court in <u>Swanson</u> held that because the two written documents were inconsistent, and the Memorandum was drafted after the employment manual, genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether in the Memorandum the employer made "a promise of specific treatment in specific circumstances" when it wrote that it would not discharge plaintiff without at least one prior warning for certain instances of misconduct. Id. at 525-526.

Here, unlike Swanson, there is only one written document upon which the parties are relying: the Handbook, which does not contain contradictory/inconsistent language with respect to terminating Culbertson's employment. Moreover, nowhere in the Handbook does it ever state that Wells Fargo shall or must do anything specific (including but not limited to "problem solving" and/or "dispute resolution") prior to terminating Culbertson's at-will employment. In fact, directly distinguishable from Swanson is the fact that the statements/language that Culbertson relies upon to support his claim also contains the discretionary statement and reinforces the at-will employment relationship. It states that "the policy is not progressive" and that Wells Fargo "reserves the right to use any part of the process ... and, if necessary, to terminate employment without implementing performance counseling and corrective action." (CP 879) Finally, the most significant distinguishable fact of Swanson

from this case is that there is a disclaimer contained in the same document that the Culbertson attempts to rely upon – the Handbook.

There is a Washington case which does apply here however; the undisputed facts and allegations of Culbertson's wrongful discharge claim are directly analogous to a recently reported Washington appellate case which dismissed a claim of specific promises in specific situations - Quedado v. Boeing Co., 168 Wn.App. 363, 276 P.3d 365 (2012).

Similar to this case, <u>Quedado</u> involved an at-will employee who was investigated, and then suffered an adverse employment action as a result of the employer's investigation. In affirming the summary judgment dismissal, the Court held that "without evidence of a promise that modified Quedado's at-will employment status, his theories of breach of implied contract and equitable reliance on a promise of specific treatment must fail." <u>Quedado</u>, 168 Wn.App. at 375, 276 P.3d 365. Reaching its conclusion to affirm the summary dismissal, the Court found that the employer, Boeing, had effectively communicated a sufficient disclaimer to prevent any such claim of specific promises in specific situations:

At a minimum, the disclaimer must state in a conspicuous manner that nothing contained in the handbook, manual, or similar document is intended to be part of the employment relationship and that such statements are instead simply general statements of company policy. [cites omitted]. Boeing's disclaimers met the minimum requirement described in Swanson.

Quedado, 168 Wn.App. at 374, 276 P.3d 365.

In addition, the <u>Quedado</u> Court noted that the Boeing disclaimers (which were not bolded, underlined and/or italicized) were effectively communicated (conspicuous) to the employee because they were on/in the first page of both documents the employee was relying upon:

Quedado declares that he never signed a disclaimer in any Boeing employment policy and contends the disclaimer was therefore ineffective. But he does not claim he was unaware of the disclaimers. Indeed, he claims to have known enough about the specific contents of the two documents to rely on them. It is not plausible that he was aware of what the documents said about how to conduct an investigation and take corrective action, yet remained unaware of the conspicuous disclaimer.

Quedado, 168 Wn.App. 363, 374, 276 P.3d 365 (2012).

These are the same undisputed facts regarding the disclaimers that are present in this case. In the plain language of the Handbook, Wells Fargo, like Boeing, provided multiple clear disclaimers that it's Team Member Handbook and the policies therein did not create a contract and did not in any way alter or amend the at-will employment relationship. Furthermore, there are no facts that support that Wells Fargo's disclaimer was negated by later, inconsistent representations.

2. Wells Fargo's Team Member Handbook contains only general statements of company policy that does not amount to promises of specific treatment in specific circumstances.

The second circumstance when employers will not be bound by statements in employee handbooks is when policy statements therein are merely general statements of company policy, are not promises of specific treatment, and are not binding on an employer. Thompson, 102 Wn.2d at 231, 685 P.2d 1081; see e.g., see also, McClintick, 105 Wn.App. at 922, 21 P.3d 328 (affirming a dismissal of such a claim and holding that the "guidebook does not amount to a promise of specific treatment in specific situations [as] it contains no terms such as 'shall,' 'will,' or 'must' that indicate the practice is mandatory. Even if it were applicable to TPM's employees, the guidebook was merely advisory.").

The statements from the Handbook that Culbertson alleges create specific promises are "serious commitments," "guiding principles," "fairness," "two way communications," "free flow of questions, answers, and ideas," "open, honest and direct communications," "respect," "consistency," and "professionalism" in problem solving between "team members" and Wells Fargo. (CP 12) Culbertson further asserts that statements of "fair treatment" in conjunction with provisions of the Handbook chapter entitled "Career, Performance, & Problem Solving," that discuss guidelines for "problem solving," "dispute resolution," and "termination decision review," create questions of fact as to whether the

Handbook has specific promises in specific situations necessary to support his wrongful discharge claim.

Culbertson's citation to these Handbook terms is not enough to survive summary judgment, as all of these words picked out of the Handbook by Culbertson are exactly the type of words that Washington courts find to be general policy statements that are not binding on an employer, are not mandatory policies, and do not create a claim.

The statements in the Wells Fargo Handbook are akin to those statements in Boeing's documents in Quedado, where the Court found insufficient as a matter of law. In Quedado the Court examined the actual language of the employment documents and found that the statements of "fair" treatment were only general policies:

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